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HEN on December 28, the jury in the
United States District Court of In­
diana brought in a verdict of guilty

respect to thirty-eight out of forty
- dants, it brought to a close one of

most amazing cases ever tried in an
'can court. In the past decade only

other labor trials have excited similar
t, those of Haywood, Moyer and Petti-

in Idaho in 1906, that of the McNamaras
. ago at Los Angeles and the recent one

or and Giovannitti at Salem.
those cases involved charges of murder.
charge at Indianapolis was not murder

:::e dynamiting of buildings; it was a charge
spiracy to transport explosives on passen­

_ 'I1S from one state into another, and aid­
- abetting in accomplishing that end.

mer facts were lacking it would seem
_ that a trial on such charges should chal­
_ dIe attention of the country. A violation

law against such transportation of ex­
would be complete if a man crossed a

- rder on a passenger train and carried
a stick of dynamite which he intended

-'or blowing up stumJ;ls.
_ evidently, the district attorney meant

g besides the particular counts in the in­
when he called the offense for which
were being tried the "crime of the

_:' More than one newspaper called for
~::::li::IiJ'!l1um punishment for the defendants and

ork journal expressed regret that capi­
-~ ment could not be inflicted. In view
Iact that no reasonable per;;on, even if

ignorant of the law, could maintain that anyone
should be punished by a court for a crime for
which he was not on trial, this attitude is com­
prehensible only when the sinister facts in the
background of the trial are taken into account­
facts not to be palliated or gainsaid. I

The whole story is more than that of a court
trial. To get it in its proper setting, we must
know what had happened prior to the indicting
of fifty-four labor men. In 1905 the American
Bridge Company had a closed shop agreement
with the Bridge and Structural Iron Workers'
Union. There was also an arbitration clause
in the agreement, and a third clause of impovt­
ance which said that "none of the definite articles
of these rules shall be subject to arbitration."
Some time in 1905 the American Bridge Com­
pany sublet a contract to the Boston Bridge
Company, a concern that did not employ union
labor. The union objected to this as a violation
of the closed shop clause and when it was unable
to induce the American Bridge Company either
to abrogate its contract or to compel the Boston
Bridge Company to unionize its work, a strike
was ordered. The ordering of a strike without
first submitting the matter in controversy to
arbitration was, the company insis~ed, a violation
of the arbitration agreement. The union replied
that the strike was over a "definite article" of
the rules, that is, the closed shop clause, which
under the agreement was not subject to arbitra­
tion. From a local strike in New Haven the
breach widened until a general strike against
the work of the American Bridge Company all
over the country was declared. The Bridge
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Company retaliated by declaring for the "6p~n

shop."
Next the National Erectors' Association en­

tered into the controversy. This association and
its predecessors had been for several years in
the habit of signing annual agreements with the
Structural Iron Workers' Union. The last one
was signed January 1, 1905, and expired one year
later. On May 1, 1906, the Erectors' Associa­
tion adopted what is known as the open shop
policy, and joined its most important member,
the American Bridge Company, in its conflict
with the union. This brought into the fray the
leading construction companies of the country,
including, beside the American Bridge Company,
the Fort Pitt Bridge Works, the Hinkle Iron'
Works, the McClintic-Marshall Construction
Company, the Pennsylvania Steel' Company, the
Phoenix Bridge Company, the Pittsburgh Steel'
Construction Company, the Riter-Conley Manu­
facturing Company, the Wisconsin Bridge and
Iron Company and many others. The American
Bridge Company is a subsidiary of the United
States Steel Corporation.

Then 'began and continued from 1905 to 1911,
a struggle surpassed in violence in the labor his­
tory of this country only by the Molly Ma­
guires. Assaults on individuals became a com­
monplace; bridges, buildings and structural ma­
terial in all parts of the country were damaged
or destroyed by explosions of dynamite and nitro­
glycerine, and human life ,was placed in jeopardy
in countless ways. The 'whole country finally
became aroused by the blowing up on October
1, 1910, of the building occupied by the Los An­
geles Times, when twenty-one men at work in
the building were killed.,

The National Erectors' Association' has pub­
lished a list of ninety-six assaults on "non union
foremen and men in the employ of open shop
contractors of iron and steel erection work" oc­
curring from December 2, 1905 to June 13, 1912,
and a list of "depredations; dynamitings, attempts,
etc." to the number of 102, extending over the
period from the summer of 1905 to October 16,
1911. While no connection has been shown to
exist between all of these assaults and depre­
dations and any activity on the part of the
Iron Workers' Union, the McNamara case proved
that union officials were responsible for some of
the worst of them, and the Indianapolis trial
demonstrated their responsibility for many more.

It is the last chapter to date in a book of stag­
gering revelations. Walter Drew, counsel for
the National Erectors' Association, had testified
last summer before the Judiciary Committee of
the United States Senate, that there were in
1905 two attempts to dynamite open shop erec­
tion work. He testified that in 1906 there were.
three explosions and four attempts; in 1907, six
explosions; in 1908, nineteen explosions al'ld four

Feb

attempts; in 1909, twenty-tw() explosions =
attempts; in 1910, twenty-five explosions.
1911 up to the arrest of J. B. McNama:
Ortie McManigal on April 12, there we:­
explosions. One of the questions that
never will be answered is how a dynamitioo­
paign of such magnitude could have bee:J
ried on for six years, involving in its sCQ?e
width of the continent, and having for its :
the greatest steel construction companies :=:
United States, including the United States ­
Corporation 'itself, before one important 4-.

was made or one dynamiter convicted of ='=..-
However that may be, the McNainara a-........:rd.

brought into the hands of the officials o' ­
Angeles 'County and 6f Marion County, Inc'­
evidence of 'great importance which wa
mately turned over to the federal authoritie:
the basis of this evidence a grand jury, can\'
in Indilmapolis, returned indictments ago"
fifty-four men, charging them as has been s­
with conspiracy and with aiding and abe .
in the transportation of dynamite and n:_
glycerine on passenger trains from one ~

into another. Forty of these men had their -­
considered by the trial jury. The fourteen
were eliminated included the two McNama..-­
now serving sentences in California, McManis
and Ed Clark who had pleaded guilty, one r::;=
who was never found and one who had a bro'­
leg and so was prevented from' appearing. Th.:
men were discharged at the beginning of .;..,
trial on the motion of the district attorney, .
annouhced that he could not make a case aga'~~

them, and four more were discharged on the rr:~

tiQn of the district attorney at the end of
submission of the government's evidence. La:e:­
one more defendant, Clarence E. Dowd, was dis.­
charged on the motion of his own atforney.

Of the forty 'who stood before the court c.:
the close of the trial all were members of e
Structural. Iron Workers' Union except Hirar::
Kline, a carpenter, and Olaf A. Tveitmoe, :<­

cement worker and secretary of the San FraI:
cisco Building Trades Council. It was prac'·
cally the labor officials of one trade and of tha:
trade only, who were at the bar of the federa:
court, or who were involved in the far-f1unc­
skeins of evidence which were unraveled day
after day. The reckless efforts which the Ca·
ifornia unionists were making to break into ope .
shop Los Angeles and the bitter hostility of the
editor of the Times was what led to the transfe~

of these tactics to an outside field and ultimately
led to exposure.

The United States District Court room in In·
dianapolis is divided nearly in two by a rail.
Behind the rail are seats for onlookers and in
front is the judge's raised desk, the jury box.'
tables and seats for. counsel and seats for de­
fendants. It was never anticipated by the archi-
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.JUDGE A.LBERT B. MmERSON

"A great public service was performed by prose­
cution and court. When state and local authori­
ties weakly and shamefully neglected to Interfere In
a campaign of violence which led inevitably to
bloodshed, the United States authoritIes, through the
halting medium of a law <leslgned only to protect the
traveling public from ig-llorant carelessness, uncovered
the conspiracy and punished the conspirators."

teet that forty men should be on trial at one
time inside that rail. They were ranged along,
in front of the rail, three rows deep, nearly
the entire width of the room. V,rhen a table for
the newspaper men, and seats for especially
pri vileged visitors were added, scant space re­
mained.

As I sat in the court room studying the faces
of the defendants, I thought of what I have
often heard about character showing in a man's
face. They didn't look like criminals, those
nen, One was sitting 'erect, twirling his hat on
the top of his cane. He
looked for all the world
like a professional man
,,'jth, you would proba­
bly have added. a taste
for music, I learned
that this was Tveitmoe,
whom the district attor­
ney denounced as a mur­
derer. Another remind­
ed me strongly of a cer­
tain social worker who
is a terror to evil doers.

ome looked to be ex­
actly what they are,
trong muscled men who

have worked with their
hands for a living;
others seemed more like
prosperous business peo­
ple. But one I fixed
upon as evil, through
and through. That man,

I I said to myself more
man once, is a criminal
if ever I saw one, But
he turned out to be one
of those against whom
-he evidence was scanty

nd largely circumstan­
-jal, and was not classed
e\'en by ,the prosecution
as one of the ringlead­
ers, He received one of
-he lighter sentences.

What had happened to
ring to the hither side'

of that dividing rail
~hese men who, so far as the eye could tell, might
ha\'e been ordinary onlookers?

\Vhen on October 1, two years to a day after
:he Los Angeles explosion, the government
opened its case it based it largely 'on the testi­
mony of Ortie E. McManigal. McManigal had
been arrested on April 12, 1911, by Burns de­
:ectives, along with James B: McNamara, charg­
ed with complicity in blowing up the Times
building. He turned state's evidence at Los

Angeles and confessed that he had carried ·dyna­
mite and blown up buildings under the direction
of J. J. McNaniara, then secretary-treasurer of
the Structural Iron \iVorkers' Union. The gov­
ernment brought him to Indianapolis to tell in
detail of his dynamiting exploits.

For days this man sat in the witness chair
and told how he had gone about the country on
his mission of destruction. He declared that
he had set the bombs for some twenty-three of
the' explosions shown by the prosecution to have
taken place.

On 1y corroborative
evidence and the almost
unbelievable acts of
other defendants, proven
to have taken place,
would avail to convince
one of the truth of his
story which, had it been
written out instead of
lived, would have been
too lacking in plausibil­
ity to find a publisher.
Think of checking a suit
case full of dynamite in
a railroad station! Mc­
Manigal testified that
he not only did that but
that he took dynamite to
his home in Chicago,
piled it on the radiator
to thaw out, and then
went out to look over a
"job" ! When he re­
turned he found his little
girl playing with the
sticks of dynamite on the
floor.

It is according to the
book to expect that a
man even partially in his
senses, if about to com­
mit a crime, will try to
conceal his identity, to
cover up his tracks, and
in every way to make
it difficult for anyone to
recognize him or to
trace the course of his

journeys. McManigal did use several aliases,
One of them, said to have been used also by
Hockin, was the particularly unobtrusive one of
"Ping." But he always took scrupulous pains,
apparently, that some one of his various names
should appear on a hotel register, wherever he
went to set off an explosion.

He got acquainted with night watchmen,
guarding property that he intended to destroy.
He even tried on one occasion to get the watch-
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man to go to a theatre with him, so that he
would not be injured .when the bomb exploded.
Failing in that because the watchman "got sus­
picious," McManigal went away and prepared a
second bomb. He risked a return to the build­
ing guarded by the now "suspicious" watchman,
set this second bomb at a point remote from the
first, timed to gQ off five minutes before the
other, so as to draw the watchman to that
point in time to save his life from the initial
bomb. Having taken these precautions, this care­
ful dynamiter boarded a train.

McManigal had his picture taken at one place
where he had gone in his professiomil capacity
and finally, as if fearful that sufficient clues
were stilI lacking, he formed the habit of send­
ing to his wife souvenir spoons of the towns
where he caused explosions.

For all that, there was no lack of evidence
of many different sorts in substantiation of his
story. Hotel registers. showed his signature;
hotel clerks identified him. Attorneys for the
defense "on cross examination failed to break
down his testimony.

McM:anigaI's story must have left a strong im­
pression on the jury, for he told how again and
again he met different officers and business

. agents of the Iron Workers' Union-not the Mc­
Namaras alone, but many others-and conferred
with them regarding proposed ~xplosions. But
the strongest of all the corroborative evidence­
showing direct connection between leading offi­
cials of the union and the dynamiting campaign,
and indicating that there was conniving at and
participation in other forms of violence-ap­
peared in the hundreds of letters written by
officials, business agents and others, which were
taken from the files of the Structural Iron Work­
ers' Union, and which were read into the evi­
dence.

And here appears another thing to wonder
over in this most amazing of trials. If McMani­
gal acted with incredible nonchalence as play­
actor with the steel industry as his property man,
what can be said of the precaution of the score
of other men involved, most of whom wrote, not
once but again and again, letters so incriminat- .
ing that McNamara, replying to one of them, pro­
tested against putting such things on paper:
"The Lord only knows who sees these letters!"
he said.

And then McNamara kept the lettel'S on file!
It is a common practice in business offices to
destroy letters, except those of especial import­
ance, after a few years. Some of these "dyna­
mite letters" were kept in the union headquarters
five years, and only then taken, away when the
place was raided by officers of the law!·

Day after day District Attorney Miller read
these letters into the record. They dealt with

all sorts of matters from finances to "r
work." Not many of them perhaps referred :­
plain and obvious terms to dynamiting and 0

forms of violence, but taken in connection
the dynamiting campaign that was on, many ha
a very plain and incriminating significance.

It had been brought out in evidence that f
a long time, John J. McNamara used funds
the amount of a thousand dollars a month wi .
out giving any account of them. The stubs
the checks so drawn were usually marked "se:
aside for organizing purposes by the executi
board." The first thousand dollar check \\'"23

drawn in December, 1909. On August 7, 19a!.
J. J. McNamara had written to Frank C. W
of New York, a member of the executive board,
that he thought the board should set aside fr
a thousand to three thousand dollars for emer­
gency purposes to be drawn on by himself.

McNamara wrote:

"I believe it will be up to the executive board
to arrange so that things can be charged so that
no official can be charged with the expenditure
of a large amount of money."

The letter further mentioned that the expendi­
tures of large sums of mopey by any individual
officer led to investigations and kicks.

On July 1, 1908, Ed Clark who, along with
McManigal, pleaded guilty to the charge of
transporting dynamite, and confessed that he had
caused at least one explosion, wrote to McNa­
mara regarding some structural work that was
about to be started in Cincinnati. Clark wrote,

"If you think it would help any, it would be
easy to put their hoisting engine on the bum
now."

McNamara replied that Hockin (who suc­
ceeded McNamara as secretary and treasurer,
when the latter was convicted), would be in
Cincinnati and

"he can take up with you the matters men­
tioned in your communication."

On July 23, Clark informed McNamara that
Hockin had been in Cincinnati and on August
7 Clark wrote,

"I may as well tell you that there was an
explosion on the Grainger job last night."

July 30, 1908, Philip Cooley of New Orleans,
a member of the executive board, wrote to Mc­
Namara that there were two scab jobs under
way there, adding:

"Now, Joe, it will take about $250 to do any
\vork. There is a few good fellows ,in this local
at this time who can do the trick and get away
with it."

McNamara replied that Ryan would be in
New Orleans shortly and Cooley had better take
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the matter up with him. "You can arrange mat­
t.ers 'much better that way than you can by mail,"
he said.'

On December 29, 1909, Cooley wrote to Mc­
)[amara:

"I was able to secure the proper stuff for that
proposition I mentioned to you in a former com­
munication, and I would like to know just what
this kind of a job is worth, as I would not like
a offer something and not be able to go through

with it."

On February 5, 1910, Hockin wrote to Cooley:

"In answer to your favor or February 2, I
have just sent you a wire ordering you to cancel
::he repair work on derrick, also the yard work
you speak of, as the price is altogether too high.

might say that our expenses for the last month
ave been rather high and we have not got the
oney at present to make repairs at such a high

price. We have been doing considerable organ­
tzing work throughout the country, so for some
'me we will have to keep our expenses down.

You say you have considerable idle men down
:Dere. Under them conditions, the repair work

ght to be done very cheaply."

yL J. Hannan of Scranton, Pa., a business
-uent, wrote to J. J. McNamara on September
1. 1907:

"I wish' to say that it is a shame to let this
ch of ,snakes leave here without trimming

::bem. . . . Now I think you shouln send
some money here on the quiet and I promise the

oods will be delivered. If' No. 23 [23 was the
mber of the Scranton local] had a million, I

..-ould not do a job for them, as they don't
ow how to keep their mouth shut and I don't

~eel prepared to serve time. . . . I am pre­
• red to do anything, but you know how careful
2 man should be in a case of this kind."

It was in regard to this letter that Frank A.
yan, president of the union, admitted under
ass examination on the stand that it had

• ooked a little suspicious" to him.
William C. Bernhardt of Cincinnati wrote to
cNamara on October 22, 1907, about an acci­

Cent that had happened on some work that a
_ n-union contracting company was doing there

which some of the union members were ac-
ed of being responsible, and some had been
ested. Bernhardt said that he had footed

3J!Ile of the bills himself, because the matter was
. such a nature that "it could not be brought

::p." The same letter refers to a police judge
'Cool~y also wrote to lIfcNamara at one tIme that he
~ m~t a scab In a saloon and struck him on the jaw.
Be said that the blow mane the man pretty sick because

bit his h~ad on somethIng as he went uown ann, he
I'd aftel'wal'd that he hall bail to have a sllvpr plate
in. Cooley was arl'nff1 thnt he mIght get Into trouhle

Ilrst, but he WI'oll' thnt be had bh'pd two wltn~sses

tpstfry that the scab had hit hIm first. Then he had
• frlenr] of his see the judge so he was boplng to get

. ~aslly.

who was friendly to the iron workers, and who
said, "For God's sake, don't bring that bunch
around here any mbre or I'll have to do some­
thing."

An unusually frank letter was written on
February 25, 1908, by Ed Clark, in which pe
said:

"Vv'e're going to do something to the Grainger
Company that will be of benefit to the whole
membership in general.. . We have made
up our minds to go after them in the right way.
. . . Joe, being so well known here, I do not
think it advisable for me to buy any explosive.
Could there be such a thing as you sending me
from Indianapolis what I need?"

A letter written by Ryan on April 27, 1910,
figured prominenly in the trial. It was in this
letter that Ryan apportioned "jobs" among the
various members of the executive board. Ryan
wrote:

"Let Legleitner attend to the jobs in his dis­
trict. Let Butler attend to the jobs at Rochester
and Buffalo. Hockin can attend to Detroit,
Cleveland, Cincinnati, Davenport, Kansas and
Peoria jobs."

The district attorney attempted to show that
the reference in each case was to the dynamiting
of non-union construction work in each district.
It was also shown that within a few months after
this letter a number of explosions took place in
several of the districts where the "jobs" were to
be looked after.

Some of the most interesting letter writing
was done by J. E. Munsey, business agent of the
union in Salt Lake City. On June 13, 1909, Mun­
sey wrote to J. J. McNamara about a conference
that he had had with the president of the Min­
neapolis Steel Company. He said that the presi­
dent had left Salt Lake City for Minneapolis, but

"he left his lap dog, Holstrom, here. We have
tried to get him, but he won't venture out in the
night time. He packs a big gun all the time."

A new hotel was being built in Salt Lake City,
and on September 29, 1909, Munsey wrote to
McNamara:

"They are going to run open shop on this
Utah Hotel. There is no question But just wait
until they try it and you watch me."

On December 13, 1909, Munsey wrote:

"There is a fellow by the name of Delaney
working on the job, and he sent after me the
other night. He gave me the address of John
Smith, Cardiff, Alabama, and said if I wrote
him about him I could find out what kind of a
man he was. I asked him what his motive was
in working there, and he told me he followed
that kind of business up, and if I wanted to put
the job on the bum, he would do it. He said he



OLAF A. TVEl'l'MOE
Secreta,'y of tbe San Francisco

Buildiug 'l'rades Council. Influ­
ential Pacific coast labor leader.
Six years' Imprisonment.

JOHN T. BOTLER
Vice-president of tbe StructUl'al

Iron Workers' Union. Sentenced
to six years' Imprisonment.

:.IfICHAEL J. YOUNG
Business agent of the Structural

Iron Workers' Union In Boston.
Sentenced to six years' Imprison·
ment.

worked for this John Smith during ::t strike in
Alabama and for me to \\'rite in regard to it.
Smith, he claims, is president of a local there.
So I wrote Smith. but I was careful not to say
anything in the letter that could be used against
me 01: against the local.. I wish you
would try to find out if you can; they might be
trying to double cross me. N O\\' I don't know
anything about this Delaney; never heard of him
before. Of course, I am pretty \\'ise, and 1 am
not going to let him lead me into anything on
me. Now he wants me to wait until I hear from
this Smith, then he says he will be re:ldy to do
business. Of course, I didn't mention that I
wanted to do anything or say anything pertaining
to it, so I think it would be advisable to write
Lewis and see if there is such a man as Smith
or if Delaney did do this work."

tlcNamara replied to this letter on December
20:

HI note your statement relative to this fellow
Delaney. Do not frame up 'with any of those
fellows. Some of our people done it at New
York and to their sorrow. If I am not greatly
mistaken, he wants to lead you into a trap. If I
were you, I would feel this Delaney out again,
and then tell him that you had taken the matter
up \\'ith some of the officials of the. local union,
and that they turned the proposition down and
gave you to understand that they were not doing
business along that line. If he is crooked, and
everything indicates that he is, he will, of course,
take this information back to the people he is
working for."

Later on there were explosions on the Salt
Lake City work. February 24, 1910, Munsey
\\Tote to McNamara:

"1 am positive it would pay to send an or­
ganizer to this particular part of the country.

. The Kearns and Utah Hotel buildings are

612

coml11g along very slowly. But I still thi
there is a po sible chance to square the Kea .~
Building."

On March 2 he wrote:

"The Utah Hotel is practically at a standsti .
They can't cut the mustard, and I think there
will be something doing there pretty soon."

On March 3 he wrote:

"Jones is practically up against it, and ii l:e
don't do any more in the next three month e
"'ill never finish the job."

\Vriting again on March 7, he said:

"I think I have Jones on the hip in regard
the Kearns buildinO', and we will then attend
the Utah Hotel."

On March 29 :.tIcNamara replied:

"1 wish you are able to run Jones not only au'
of Salt Lake City, but also out of the state 0;
Utah. I presume he told you what I have j
mind, and if it can be gone into in a safe wa~'

I will be on the job."

On April 18 the Utah Hotel was dynamited a
second time.

I have quoted all these letters because it is
important that the readers of THE SURVEY should
know something of the evidence that was intro­
duced in the trial. Noone could read these let­
ters, see the various exhibits introduced by the
goveni.ment, and consider corroborative evidence
of a dozen different kinds, including the manner
of some of the defendants on the witness stand.
without being convinced that many of them were
personally responsible for much of the violence
and destruction of property which had taken
place for half a dozen years past. That impres-

February 1, J91:1.



HERBER'.r S. HOCKIN
Succeeded J. J. McNamara as

:: retary-tl'easul'er of the I1'on
""rorkers'. Six' years' imprison­

_nt.

FRANK M. RYAN
President Bl'idge aud Structurai

Iron Workers' Unlou. Sentenced
to seven years' imprisonment.

JOHN E. MUNSEY
Iron WOl'kers' al(ent in Salt

Lake City. Accused of hiding .T. B.
McNamara after Times explosion.
Six years' imprisonment.

- was strengthened in my mind as I sat and
-:::.::ed to the attorneys for the defense making
~~ final arguments to the jury.
~e defendants had an imposing array of
--=5el. At the head was W. N. Harding, a

-:::::J:nent attorney of Indianapolis, and asso-
-:ed with him as co-leader of the band of fif-
..=: attorneys was John VI. Kern, formerly spe­

assistant United States district attorney,
':::ocratic nominee for the vice-presidency in

_. and now United States Senator from In­
Among the defendants' attorneys were a

-=er assistant district attorney in Philadel-
and a former United States attorney in

o50uri. They came from a half-dozen differ­
: o'ates, from cities as far apart as Minneap­
; ~nd Philadelphia. Some represented one de-
:.ant, some two or more, and all were repre­
:00 by Harding and Kern.

:: ~ the prosecution there were three men­
~~:-ict Attorney Charles W. Miller and Assist­
- :::>istrict Attorneys Noel and Nichols. Miller
~ ppointed by President Taft in 1909. He was
'~ey general of Indiana from 1903 to 1907,
~ has held various other positions of impor­
-~ both in politics and in business. For more
- a year these men had concentrated on this

:: -ase. They are deserving of great credit for
=.=- tenacity and industry in going through the
:,,' 'ng mass of evidence, for mastering it as
-=:- did, and. drawing out into the open this

;?iracy which had eaten at the heart of a
::": labor~ group. Attorneys for the defense

=;-= 'edly complimented the prosecution for
=:~ able presentation of the case, and it was
=ere flattery. It was not only in having the

=.ght of evidence in their favor, but in th,~ir

?~ ruary 1. 1913.

intellectual grasp of that evidence that the pro­
secution was stronger.

On the bench sat Judge Albert B. Anderson,
who was appointed to that position by President
Roosevelt in 1902. It was, incidentally, Judge
Anderson who afterward decided against the
president who had appointed him in the famous
Indianapolis News libel case, and who was the
h·ero of 1\1r. Roosevelt's remark that the judge
was "either a fool 01' a knave."

The jury was made up mostly of Indiana
farmers-dyed-in·the·wool Hoosiers, as the eye
cOltld see. In the final arguments before the
jury each side was allotted four days. Assistant
District Attorney Noel opened for the prosecu­
tion, and when the defense had had ~heir four
days, District Attorney Miller took two and a
half days for closing.

As I have intimated, the arguments of the de­
fense did not for the most part impress me fa­
vorably. It seemed fitting and proper that the
attention of the jury should be directed, as Sen­
ator Kern did most effectively, to the solemn re­
sponsibility of having in their hands the liberty
of a fellow man. I am no lawyer, but it seemed
to me only right that the jury should be reminded
of the seriousness of its duty, dulled as their
sense of it might have become after three weary­
ing months of hearing evidence.

But I did not feel an equal measure of fitness
and scrupulous propriety as lawyer after lawyer
stood before the jury and made pleas for sym­
pathy, reminding the jury of the homes where
these men were "loved as those in your homes
love you." Some of them quoted poetry. One
read Abou Ben Adhem to the jury. Another
read the poem entitled The House by the Side

6]3
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of the Road, where the poet \'(ished to dwell and
"be a friend to man." Several of the attor­
neys used the same formula in closing their ap­
peals. "I leave my clients, with all they have,
with all they love and with all who love them, in
your hands."

Of them all, I think only Attorney V,Tilliam A.
Gray of Philadelphia, appearing in behalf of
Michael Cunnane, and Judge Krum of St. Louis,
who defended J. H. Barry and P. J. Morrin, re­
frained from making that kind of appeal.

It was the duty of defendants' counsel to make
the best arguments they could for their clients
consistently with the truth. But when I found
them devoting, in the aggregate, hours of their
precious time to 'such appeals as these, instead
of marshalling the evidence, I could not help
concluding that their cases were weak and that
they knew it.

So far as the prosecution was concerned, I
could not help thinking of another trial recently
the feature of the newspapers-that of Police
Lieutenant Becker in New York for the murder
of Herman Rosenthal. In that trial the news­
papers reported that Assistant District Attorney
Moss not only did not interrupt the defendant's
counsel when he was making his final argument
before the jury, but that he retired from sight of
the jury in order to give the defendant's counsel
opportunity to speak for his client unhampered

,..'"ly any counter influence which even the pres-.
ence of the prosecuting attorney might exercise.

At Indianapolis, District Attorney Miller sat
directly in front of the jury all the time that the
attorneys for the defense were making their
closing arguments. He not only interrupted
from time to time, but he did so in a manner that
frequently surprised me, with such remarks as
these: "Counsel knows that every word that he
is saying is untrue," or "I wish counsel would try
to tell the truth at least part of the time."

And then his speech to the jury surprised me
in its bitter attack upon counsel for the defense.
He taunted them with being there to defend a
bunch of criminals "at so much per day." He
intimated that Senator Kern had abandoned his
duties at Washington, which the people were
paying him to perform, to defend men guilty of
murder. Such things, he declared with bitter
scorn, "will men do for money." I gathered that
he thought the defendants should not be repre­
sented by counsel.

The trial ended; the jury convicted thirty­
eight men; acquitted two. Judge Anderson sen­
tenced one man to serve seven years in prison;
eight men to serve six years; two men four
years; twelve men three years; four men two
years; six men one year and one day; and five
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men, together with Ed Clark, who pleaded guil .'
he released under suspended sentences.

And now that it is over there is a tenden .
to feel relief because the story has come out anc
justice has triumphed. The pity of it~is tha:
neither thing has happened. The matters deal:
with in the trial were too complex to be th~

easily made known to all men, and justice is too
C'omplex a thing thus easily to triumph. And =
am not sure that unless, or even if, we limit ou:
definition of justice as the court was obliged to
do, can we say that it triumphed here. I:
will help if we first consider an important phase
of the trial itself, and then turn to a more im­
portant question-what was it all. really about·?

The old doctrine on which our criminal pre>­
cedure continues to be based is that it is the
crime, and not the man, that comes before the
court for judgment. Given this procedure, i­
justice even in a limited sense is to prevail, twt'
things among others are extremely important.
One is that if a man is suspected of having
committed a crime, he should be placed on tri
in a court that has jurisdiction. The other is
that, having been placed on trial in any coun.
he should be tried on the charge named in the
indictment, and not on some other charge.

District Attorney Miller is not to blame be­
cause the men convicted at Indianapolis were no
tried on the direct charge of dynamiting build­
ings. That is not a matter for the federal courts.
The fact that they were not so tried by state
and county courts, and that long since, is a na­
tional scandal. Perhaps the magistrate who
said, "For God's· sake, dqn't bring that bunch
here again or I'll have to do something," could
tell why they escaped local prosecution. Judge
Anderson took occasion to remark in the course
of the trial that had. the local authorities done
their duty, the matter never need have come to
his court.

Mr. Miller's strict responsibility was to pre­
sent the evidence against the defendants on the
several counts of the indictment, all of which
had to do with the transporting of dynamite
across state lines. Yet this was not the burden
of his attack upon the defendants. He called
them dynamiters and murderers. Tveitmoe he
singled out for especial condemnation, and sel­
dom if ever referred to him without an epithet.
"Contemptible" and "infamous'" were the adjec­
tives most commonly attached to his name. "If
I were district attorney of Los Angeles County,"
he said, "Clancy and Tveitmoe would have been
tried for murder, and if an honest jury were in
the box they would have gone to San Quentin
prison to join the McNamaras."

So it was that some of those who heard the
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testimony said: "These men are guilty of dyna­
miting buildings"- whiCh was true of most of
them-"so I hope the judge will send them to
prison for life"-which would have been wholly
contrary to the law, since the men were being
tried for something else. Even Judge Anderson,
when sentencing the convicted men, admitted that
he would have to exercise some will power not to
sentence them for murder and destruction in­
stead of the crime of which they had been found
guilty. Yet this incessant, reiterated picturing
of the defendants as guilty of the worst· crimes,
even up to murder, the presenting of evidence
to show that such crimes had occurred, could
not have failed to rouse in the minds of the jury
a righteous indignation against the defendants.
Not being lawyers they would naturally lose
sight to some extent of the real charge, and vote
the men guilty just because they ought to be in
jail. I do not know whether that was what they
did, but if it was hard for the judge to keep his
mind on the issue before the court, how much
harder it must have been for the jury.

Moreover the burden of admitted testimony ex­
posed the dynamitings as a motive for carrying
explosives, but threw no light on either hardship
or provocation as a possible motive for the ex­
plosions. If the court was right in admitting the
one, was it consistent or just in failing .to bring
out the other? The prosecution was permitted
to bring in as germane all the evidence it could'
gather regarding explosions and deeds of violence.
The strictness with which on the other hand eco­
nomic facts were excluded was illustrated when
the defense tried to introduce evidence tending
to show that the deaths in the union numbered
twenty a month, that 80 per cent of these
deaths are due to accidents occurring while
at work, and that the average age of the iron
worker is 34 years, and they were ruled out.
Neither was evidence introduced showing possi­
ble reasons for the bitterness of the fight as car­
ried on by the workers. Nothing was said of the
employers' way of fighting.

This leads to a more fundamental question
than whether personal injustice was done these
men: What was the trial really about, not le­
gally or technically, but actually? What was
the meaning of the facts disclosed? That it
amounted to more than the mere charge of car­
rying dynamite needs no affirming. The record
of the trial proved, if legal proof were neces­
sarl' that dynamite and nitro-glycerine had been
used by labor men in a struggle with anti-union
employers. It is idle to suppose that the Struc­
tural Iron Workers' Union got into the hands of
a set of leaders all of whom were natural-born
safe blowers and who found that the easiest

way to make the world give them a living.
I asked an experienced reporter, who had

covered the trial from the first day, what he
thought of the defendants. He answered, with­
out a moment's hesitation:

"There are some bad men here, I think-some
of the worst criminals in the United States. But
only a few are like that. Most of them are the
product of their environment. The dang-er of
their work calls for red-blooded men-men of
recklessness and courage. In their fight for
union recognition they found themselves up
against a bitter struggle with the Steel Corpora­
tion,and they actually believed, many of them,
that the only way to avoid a loss of the e;ght­
hour day and complete subjugation was through
the use of dynamite."

This view may seem more than ordinarily
puzzling if we note that it was the structural
iron workers, with their eight-hour day and their
$5 wage, who came to believe they must embark
upon a career of dynamiting, instead of some
sweated, underpaid group of workers. Yet it is
common psychology that men will go to greater
lengths to hold what they have than to gain
more. A $3 man strikes harder against a: wage
cut than a $2 man will strike for a raise. It is
significant that nearly all discussion of this mat­
ter in labor circles turns sooner or later to the
condition of the other workers.in the steel in­
dustry-their twelve-hour day and seven-day
week, their 'low wages and their unorganized
helplessness.

In an address delivered in New York last fall,
Anton Johannsen, one of the men under indict­
ment in California for transporting dynamite,
expressed this point of view. The following
is taken from a stenographic report of his speech:

"About a year and a half ago the United States
Congress appointed a committee to investigate
the steel trust. That committee-not a
labor union committee or a Socialist committee,
but a committee from the United States Con­
gress, that very seldom does anything, but they
did this time-found that . . . the steel trust
employed 260.000 men and boys. They found
that they worked them for twelve hours a day
for an average wage of $409 a year, not a
month. What else did they find? They founrl
that in that industry every single labor union
had been completely destroyed and annihilated
with but one exception-the Bridge and Struc­
tural Iron Workers' Union. You can draw vour
own inference, but every union was destroyed
by the steel trust, and all those men who had
lost their organization worked twelve hours a
day for $409 a year as the average wage. We
have a Congressional report to back us up as to
the facts. What are the facts in connection with
the Iron Workers' International Union? In
seven years, during the administration of, John
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J. MeNamara, the union increased its member­
ship from 5,000 to nearly 14,000 members. They
established an eight-hour day from the Atlantic
to the Pacific, from Texas to the Canadian line,
and they established a wage scale of $4.30 as
compared with $2.20. . . . I do not know,
but I suppose that the MeNamaras became con­
vinced that no amount of pleading, no amount
of argument, no amount of logic, no amount of
Christianity, no amount of politics, would con­
vince the steel trust that they could give ei~ht

hours and give them living wages. Labor would
have to organize. .

"The steel trust had what they called the Na­
tional Erectors' Association, one of the tribu­
taries of the steel trust, and the National
Erectors' Association had what they called the
American Bridge Company, another tributary. of
the steel trust. . . . How long do they ex­
pect those 260,000 men and boys to work in the
steel industry for $409 a year, twelve hours a
day, without becoming imbued ·with animosity
and despair? How do they expect it? I f a
man says to me, McNamara should be con­
demned, my reply is, all right, we will condemn
the MeNamaras; we will also condemn the Car­
negies. If a man says to me that the Iron Work­
ers' Union should be condemned, I say, all right;
we wiII also condemn the steel trust. If they
say we want light, we want justice; all right,
light up the iron workers and light up the steel
trust-light up labor and' light up capital. Put
on the searchlight for both parties, and we are
willing that our sins shall be compared with
their sins."

In spite of Johannsen's inaccuracy-for, while
there is a large element of truth in his statement,.
his figures are wrong-he brings out how in the
minds of the iron workers there was the fear
of the loss of their eight-hour day and of the
good wages now prevailing, fear of the help­
lessness that they have seen is the lot of the un­
organized steel workers.

That would not lead the public to tolerate their
placing bombs under bridges; but it does show
that this dynamite campaign has been part of a
larger struggle. It is one of the most sinister
mani festations of that struggle. Nevertheless
it is a part of it, and we must not think that the
matter is settled when we have the dynamiters
in jail. The court can perform its necessary
Junction, but after the men have been tried
and sentenced what about the causes that make
dynamiters?

The utter inability of a criminal court to
deal with these larger aspects of the prohlem­
the incapacity of the tribunal in this particular
case to understand them and the danger lest
its procedure of punishing reckless passengers
should lend itself wholly to the uses of one
party in the industrial conflict-was shown in one
significant fact that came under my observation.
In his closing remarks to the jury, Senator Kern
charged the prosecution with having turned the

letter files of the union over to Erectors' Asso­
ciation detectives. This angered District Attor­
ney Miller. "I would like to see the man," he
shouted to the jury as he began his closing argu­
ment, "who would declare that the letters and
papers were put into the hands of or in charge
of a detective of the Erectors' Association after
they came into the custody of the district at­
torney."

If the district attorney had said "representa­
tive" instead of detective, his question might
have been answered. I do not know whether J.
A. G. Hadorf considers himself a detective or not,
but before I went to Indianapolis I learned from
the headquarters of the National Erectors' Asso­
ciation in New York that that was the name of
their representative in Indianapolis, and that his
address was 202 Federal Building. When I ar­
rived in Indianapolis I found that 202 Federal
Building was the office of the United States dis­
trict attorney. Only the day before this state­
ment of Mr. Miller, Mr. Badorf had taken me
into a carefully guarded room in the Federal
Building. The guards smiled and made way for
us, and he showed me in that room the various
exhibits of the government, including hotel reg­
isters, infernal machines, the nitro-glycerine car­
rying case, the books of cancelled checks of the
union, and the files of letters taken from the
Iron Workers' offices. At another time, when I
had a talk with Mr. Badorf, he came out of

. that room to see me and returned to it again
when we were through with our conversation.
In view of his easy access to the exhibits it
seemed to me that whether or not he had charge
of them was a mere quibble.

But if he had, what then? It must be remem­
bered that the Erectors' Association has been
active for years in another direction than that
of apprehending criminals. It exists for the pur­
pose of smashing a labor union. In the steel
industry proper for men even to meet together
means discharge. The structural trade has not
swung that far toward domination by the em­
ployer. Men with union cards, who stay quies­
cent, work alongside the others in its open shop
work. But the impropriety of permitting an
agent of the Erectors' Association to have access
to the 60,000 or so letters, of which evidently
the vast majority had to dp with the legitimate
activities of the union, since only a few hun­
dred were used in the trial, ought to be obvious
to anyone.

For it must be remembered that there are 12,­
000 members of the Structural Iron Workers'
Union. There was no evidence brought out at the
trial to show that the overwhelming majority of
these workers had any more direct responsibility
for the dynamiting than, say, the policyholders of
the mutual insurance companies bore to the olIi-
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cial acts which were the subject of the Hughes
investigation. And it is the association of these
12,000 men that the Erectors would destroy.

To permit this employers' organization to have
free access to the records of the union showed
either that the district attorney and the judge
had no appreciation of the economic struggle that
has been going on for ages, or that they did
recognize it and desired to put ammunition in
the employers' hands. I prefer to believe the
former.

But, either way, what a light it throws on
the machinery upon which we still rely for bring­
ing justice into industrial as well as civil rela­
tions. As Judg-e Anderson said, the union was
not on trial. Even if this unnecessary misuse of
the union itself had been avoided, it was beyond
the po'wer of this criminal court to clear up the
deeper problems of justice between employer
and employe.

That is a larger prohlem than dynamiting, and
it can never be settled by a court or any number
of courts, or hy any body other than all the peo­
ple. The people must co-operate for justice all
along- the line. We must stop the lawbreakers.
If necessary, we must put them in jail. But if
we do no more than that, we shall have gone
no farther toward stamping out wrong and in­
'ustice than the doctors would toward eradicat­
ing' disease if they contented themselves with
senrling their patients to the pest-house.

The science of criminology aims to discover
he causes of crime. It is a valuahle and re­

specter! science. The averae-e citizen has more
in common with the criminologist than he has
with the trial court jurle'e. His mental jurisdic-
'on is not limiter!. A civilized people cannot re­

gard anr! treat all crimes as inr!ividual acts. and
never seek to find the causes of crime commit­
ed through mass or group action. I have no

patience to r!isctlsS the question with those who
c1;tim recently to have r!iscovered that the causes
of crimes of violence in labor disputes ought not
o be studied or talked ahout. If the wrongdoing

of capital has been a contributing cause it ought
'0 be known; now, of all times, when the red

herring of labor crime is being so assiduously
applied to the trail.

V'v'e need to know more of the very things with
regard to which the Indianapolis trial has left
us so much in the dark-the terms between man
and man in industry-between a democratic peo­
ple and the corporations whose jobs mean liveli­
hood. The Indianapolis trial shows us the fail­
ure of a criminal court to supply us with such
information at a critical juncture.

My particular criticism of that tribunal is that
through one ruling it permitted the prosecution
to bring into the record its whole exhibit of the
crimes of violence, for which the men were not
on trial, while through other rulings it prevented
the attorneys for the accused men from intro­
ducing such evidence as would have been admiss­
ible had they been on trial for those crimes of
violence. .

Even so, a great public service was performed
by prosecution and court. For, when the state
and local authorities weakly and shamefully neg­
lected to interfere in a campaign of violence
which led inevitably to bloodshed, the United
States authorities, through the halting medium of
a law designed only to protect the traveling pub­
lic from ignorant carelessness, uncovered the
conspiracy and punished the conspirators.

But the very competence of this criminal court
to do this thing shows by contrast the ineffective­
ness of any agency we now have to get
at an understanding of the facts and forces of
the economic struggle which lay back of that con­
spiracy. This very lack is what gave occasion
to the movement for a Commission on Industrial
Relations which would take up the larger as­
pects in ways commensurate with their impor­
tance and with their neglect. The Indianapolis
trial has thrown this need into bolder relief.

For one other thing the trial accomplished. It
showed unmistakably that there is a disease in
the land. It did not fully reveal its nature, and
it showed only one aspect of its ravages. There.
is another aspect. We shall not be free from
its pestilential advance until we shall have found
the source of it and made it clean. And that is
the real lesson of the dynamite case.


